THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

James Randall Davis, Special Master/Referee

**RECEIVED**

OCT 27 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

Case No. 2014-001819

Palmetto Mortuary Transport, Inc., .....Respondent,

v.

Knight Systems, Inc. and Robert L. Knight, .....Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Reginald I. Lloyd  
The Lloyd Law Firm, LLC  
715 West DeKalb Street  
Post Office Box 1555  
Camden, South Carolina 29021  
(803) 432-0004  
Attorneys for Appellants

##

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE/MASTER ERR IN FAILING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE GEOGRAPHIC RESTRICTION IN THE PARTIES' NON-COMPETE AGREEMENT IS UNREASONABLE AND VOID?
2. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE/MASTER ERR IN FAILING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE EXCESSIVE TERRITORIAL RESTRICTION IN THE NON-COMPETE AGREEMENT IS UNSUPPORTED BY INDEPENDENT AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION?
3. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE/MASTER ERR IN FAILING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE NON-COMPETE AGREEMENT IS VOID AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY BY RESTRICTING COMPETITIVE BIDDING FOR A PUBLIC CONTRACT?
4. DID THE SPECIAL REFEREE/MASTER ERR IN FAILING TO FIND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT THE NON-COMPETE AGREEMENT IS VOID AFTER ANY BREACH BY THE RESPONDENT, WHETHER OR NOT THE BREACH IS MATERIAL?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On October 20, 2011, Palmetto Mortuary Transport, Inc. ("Plaintiff") brought this action against Knight Systems, Inc. and Robert L. Knight ("Defendants") alleging that the Defendants breached a covenant not to compete, executed by and between the Parties at the time that Palmetto Mortuary purchased a mortuary transportation business from the Defendants. The Defendants denied the allegations in the Complaint and counterclaimed, alleging that the Plaintiff first breached the terms of the Asset Purchase Agreement between the Parties, thereby voiding the Non-Compete Agreement. By consent, this matter was referred to the court-appointed Special Referee/Master James Randall Davis. After trial before the Special Referee/Master, on December 18, 2013, and the submission of proposed orders by the Parties, Special Referee/Master Davis ruled in favor of Palmetto Mortuary.

The Special Referee/Master ordered the Appellants to pay the Respondent monetary damages in the amount of Three Hundred Seventy Three Thousand, Two Hundred Sixty Four and 54/100 (\$373,264.54) Dollars, as lost profits arising from Appellants' "wrongful competition in Richland County over the five-year term" of Appellants' contract with the Richland County Coroner's Office. Appellant was also ordered to pay Seventy-Two Thousand Seventy-seven and 38/100 (\$72,077.38) Dollars to the Respondent for attorney's fees and litigation costs. The Special Referee/Master issued an injunction against the Appellants requiring that Appellants abide by the terms of the Non-Compete Agreement for a term of five-years and seven months, beginning from the date of the Special Referee/Master's Order.<sup>1</sup> Lastly, the Respondent was ordered to pay Four Hundred Seventy-Eight and 50/100 (\$478.50) in damages to the Appellant as damages for breaching the Asset Purchase Agreement's requirement that Respondent purchase body bags exclusively from the Appellants.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

An action to construe a contract is an action at law and an action for specific performance is one in equity. *Clardy v. Bodolosky*, 383 S.C. 418, 679 S.E.2d 527, 530 (Ct.App. 2009) (citations omitted). "In reviewing a proceeding in equity, this court may find facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Id.* Further,

---

<sup>1</sup> This Order would have the affect of increasing the length of time of the Non-Compete Agreement as originally agreed to by the Parties. Pursuant to the terms of their agreement and absent a breach of the agreements, the non-compete would last until January 5, 2017 (ten years). See, Order, p. 31, n. 13. "[I]t would be impermissible [through injunctive relief] to extend the non-compete period contained in the agreement as a remedy for its breach, since such an extension 'would essentially rewrite the parties' contract, a service the courts of South Carolina do not perform.'" *Poynter Invs., Inc. v. Century Builders of Piedmont, Inc.*, 387 S.C. 583, 694 S.E.2d 15, 17-18 (2010), quoting, *MailSource, LLC v. M.A. Bailey & Assoc.*, 356 S.C. 363, 588 S.E.2d 635, 639 (Ct. App. 2003).

"[q]uestions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court." *Id.*

"This court may correct errors of law in both legal and equity actions." *Id.*

## FACTS

This case involves a dispute between the Parties alleging that the Respondent breached an asset purchase agreement between the Parties and that the Appellants breached a covenant not to compete executed as part of the Respondent's purchase of Knight Systems, Inc.'s body removal business assets.

On or about January 5, 2007, these Parties executed an Asset Purchase Agreement (also referred to herein as "Agreement") whereby the Appellants sold the assets of their mortuary transportation (or "body removal") business to Palmetto Mortuary. *See*, Respondent's Exhibit 1. In accordance with the Agreement, Palmetto Mortuary paid a total of Five Hundred Ninety Thousand and No/100 (\$590,000.00) Dollars for the designated assets of Appellants Knight Systems. *See*, Respondent's Exhibit 1, p. 1 and 2. Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Palmetto Mortuary was obligated, after the asset purchase and for the term of the Parties' non-compete agreement, "to buy all of their body bags from" Knight's related body bag manufacturing business. *See*, Respondent's Exhibit 1, p. 4 (Section 3.4.8 Seller's Related Business). At the January 5, 2007 closing, the Parties also executed a Non-Competition Covenant. *See*, Respondent's Exhibit 1 (Exhibit 3.2.6 of the Agreement) (also referred to herein as the "Covenant").

Pursuant to the terms of the Non-Competition Covenant and for the consideration of One Thousand and No/100 (\$1,000.00), the Parties purported to prohibit Knight from

competing against Respondent in the mortuary transportation business within 150 miles of Knight's present location and for a period of ten (10) years after the date of the Agreement. *Id.* at p. 2. Additionally, the Covenant states that Knight shall not be deemed to be in violation of "any covenant contained herein as a result of [Knight] providing services to [Palmetto Mortuary] or [Knight] selling body bags through his related body bag business." *Id.* at p. 3. Further, under a termination clause of the Covenant, entitled "Breach of the Purchase Agreement," the Non-Competition Covenant states that "[n]otwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a breach by [Palmetto Mortuary] of the Purchase Agreement or such other documents ancillary thereto, shall constitute a breach of this [Non-Competition Covenant] and shall release [Knight] from any and all restrictions hereunder." *Id.* at p. 3.

Respondent initiated this civil action on or about October 26, 2011 and subsequently filed an Amended Complaint alleging that Knight breached the Non-Competition Covenant by bidding on and winning a public contract in 2011 to provide mortuary transportation services to the Richland County Coroner's Office. The Respondent seeks damages in the amount of revenues they did not receive from the Richland County public contract and injunctive relief against Appellantss prohibiting further competition pursuant to the terms of the Covenant. In response, Appellantss filed an Answer and Answer to the Amended Complaint alleging, *inter alia*, that Respondent first breached the Purchase Agreement by purchasing body bags from a source other than Knight's body bag manufacturing business; that the Non-Competition Covenant is unenforceable due to a lack of adequate consideration and unreasonable

duration and geographic scope requirements; and that the Non-Competition Covenant is unenforceable as a matter of South Carolina law.

At the trial of this action, Mr. Donald J. Lintal (also referred to herein as “Don Lintal”) and Mrs. Ellen M. Lintal (also referred to herein as “Ellen Lintal”), the owners and officers of Palmetto Mortuary Transport, Inc., testified on behalf of the Respondent. Mr. Robert “Buddy” Knight (also referred to herein as “Buddy Knight”), the owner of Knight Systems, Inc. and an ancillary body bag manufacturing business, testified on behalf of the Appellantss. According to the testimony of Don and Ellen Lintal, the couple saw a sales listing of Knight Systems, Inc. on a business brokerage website in the summer or fall of the year 2006. *See*, Trial Tr. at 21:19-23; 164:2-7. After deciding they had an interest in purchasing Mr. Knight’s mortuary transportation business and after negotiations over the purchase price, the Parties agreed on a price of \$590,000.00 for the purchase of specific assets from Knight Systems, Inc. *See*, Respondent’s Exhibit 1 (Asset Purchase Agreement); Trial Tr. at 83:21-25; 84-90; 91:1-4; 166:17-25; 167:1-18; 199:20-25; 200:1-15.

At the purchase closing on January 5, 2007, the witnesses testified that the \$590,000.00 asset purchase price was allocated between “furniture, fixtures and equipment” (\$37,500.00); a “non-competition covenant” (\$1,000.00); and Knight Systems, Inc.’s “customer lists” (\$551,500.00).<sup>2</sup> *See*, Exhibit 2.3 (Purchase Price Allocations) attached to Respondent’s Exhibit 1; *see also*, Trial Tr. 98-99:2-10; 157:3-13; 201:19-22. Both the Lintals and Buddy Knight testified that the Parties had no

---

<sup>2</sup> The asset purchase actually included three on-going public contracts for mortuary transportation services on behalf of the Lexington County Coroner’s Office and the Richland County Coroner’s Office, as well as the University of South Carolina School of Medicine.

discussion about the amount of consideration to be paid for the Non-Competition Covenant prior to the Parties' arrival at the January 5, 2007 closing. Trial Tr. 156:9-25; 157-161:1-19; 166:12-16; 199:10-16.<sup>3</sup> In fact, the \$1,000.00 allocated for the non-compete agreement was merely deducted from the originally negotiated \$590,000.00 asset purchase price. Trial Tr. 158:13-20; 182:7-22. Thus, as Mrs. Lintal testified, there was never any discussion between the Parties about a separate and distinct offer of consideration for the non-compete agreement apart from the original purchase price for all assets of Appellantss' mortuary transportation business. Trial Tr. 182: 17-22.

The Respondent offered testimony that the rationale for the 10 year term of the non-compete agreement was to allow Respondent to get through two contract cycles for the public contracts with Lexington County, Richland County and the University of South Carolina School of Medicine. Trial Tr. 26:7-16. Over the course of the 10 year non-compete, had Respondent maintained just the Richland County and Lexington County contracts, Palmetto Mortuary stood to make approximately \$1,500,000, more than double the purchase price Respondent paid for the assets of Appellantss' business. Trial Tr. 75:6-25; 76; 77:1-4.

At the time of the asset purchase between these Parties, Don Lintal testified that Knight Systems, Inc.'s primary area of providing mortuary transportation was in Lexington and Richland Counties. Trial Tr. 104:12-15.<sup>4</sup> Mr. Lintal further testified that the intent and affect of including a non-compete agreement within a 150 mile radius

---

<sup>3</sup> Witness Don Lintal testified that he did not even have a dollar amount in mind that should be paid for the non-compete agreement prior to arriving at the transaction closing on January 5, 2007. See, Trial Tr. 77:5-8.

<sup>4</sup> Buddy Knight also testified that Knight Systems, Inc. primarily provided body removal and transportation services only in Lexington and Richland Counties. Trial Tr. 193:19-25.

from Lexington County was to prevent Appellantss from competing against Palmetto Mortuary anywhere within the State of South Carolina. Trial Tr. 104:1-11. Although Knight Systems, Inc. was primarily a Midlands, South Carolina based business, Mr. Lintal attempted to justify the statewide restriction on competition by stating that:

“Just because I didn’t -- why was it important? Putting a geographic distance on it would have strengthened -- I didn’t -- it wasn’t to go against Mr. Knight in that regard. We didn’t know where the business was actually going to -- what we were going to -- if we were going to try to expand it at different locations. We wanted to keep our options opened if it was doable, I guess. i mean, you know, the standard -- a standard contract -- I mean, he didn’t have to accept it. We put it in there. He accepted it. So, I mean, the significance of it was that not only was there a duration of time, but we defined the territory, the boundary of which this applied . . . We did not know, but we did not want to limit our options if it was available to us. At the time it did not seem to be an issue on their part. I don’t recall any objections to that.”

See, Trial Tr. 104-106. Thus, although both sides agreed that the business interests purchased from Knight Systems were based primarily in Lexington and Richland Counties, the only justification offered by the Respondent for a statewide non-compete agreement was that Palmetto Mortuary might someday expand its operations into other parts of the State of South Carolina. *Id.*

Respondents allege that the Appellants breached the Non-Competition Covenant by submitting a 2011 bid to provide body removal and transportation services to the Richland County Coroner’s Office. During Don Lintal’s testimony at the trial, the Respondent also alleged that the Appellants breached Section 3.4.8 of the Asset Purchase Agreement (Seller’s Related Business), by removing Knight’s patented odor-proof bags from the open market, thereby preventing Respondent from meeting an essential requirement of the Richland County Coroner’s Office Request for Proposals.

Trial Tr. 62:10-24; 63:10-12; 189:6-22.<sup>5</sup> Mrs. Lintal testified that the only way that Respondent could fulfill the requirements of the Richland County contract is to have access to purchase the odor-proof bags manufactured by Buddy Knight.<sup>6</sup> Trial Tr. 189:6-18. Thus, according to testimony offered on behalf of the Respondent, even in the absence of Appellants' bid on the Richland County contract, Respondent was not guaranteed that Palmetto Mortuary would have been awarded this public contract. *Id.* at 189:19-22.<sup>7</sup>

In contrast to Respondent's claims that Appellants breached the Non-Competition Covenant, Appellants alleged that, prior Appellants bidding on the Richland County public contract, Respondent breached the provision in the Asset Purchase Agreement requiring that Respondent purchase all of its body bags from Knight's body bag manufacturing business. Section 3.4.8 of the Agreement provides, in its entirety, that:

---

<sup>5</sup> Although Respondent contends that Section 3.4.8 unambiguously requires Appellants to sell Palmetto Mortuary odor-proof body bags, another provision in the Parties' non-compete agreement provides that "[n]otwithstanding the foregoing [in the Non-Competition Covenant], the Seller [Appellants] shall not be deemed to be in violation of any covenant contained herein as a result of Seller providing services to Buyer [Respondent] or Seller selling body bags through his related body bag business." Despite Respondent's proffered interpretation of Section 3.4.8, they admit that Respondent is not asking the Court to affirmatively enjoin Appellants and require that Knight provide Respondent with the patented odor-proof bags. Trial Tr. 190:7-11. Further, the Respondent did not pursue any perceived remedies against Knight between the time Respondent learned that Appellants would not provide open market access to the patented odor-proof bags and the time that Richland County awarded the body removal contract. Trial Tr. 74:11-24.

<sup>6</sup> Even though Respondent's pleadings allege that Appellants' breach of the Non-Competition Covenant caused them damages, Respondent failed to avail itself of any remedies under the Asset Purchase Agreement to mitigate those alleged damages, such as seeking an injunction against Appellants prior to Richland County's award of the contract. *See*, Trial Tr. 73:19-25; 74:1-24. A Respondent has a duty to mitigate damages. *See, Mid-Continent Refrigerator Co. v. Way*, 263 S.C. 101, 208 S.E.2d 31 (1974).

<sup>7</sup> Mrs. Lintal also testified that any damages claimed in this case are merely speculative given the fact that the Respondent could not be assured that they would be awarded the Richland County contract. Trial Tr. 186:14-23;187:8-21.

Knight, through his related body bag business (the "Related Business"), shall provide to Buyer body bags at a discounted rate and buyer shall for the term of the non-compete agreement buy all of their body bags from the Seller. Below are the current charges for different types of body bags. The prices cited below shall not be increased by more than ten percent (10%) in any calendar year.

Heavy Duty body bags:	\$20.00
Lightweight body bags:	\$8.00
Odor-Proof body bags:	\$50.00
Water-Retrieval body bags:	\$30.00

Prior to any transfer of the Related Business to a third party, Knight shall offer to sell the Related Business to Buyer at the same price and on the same terms as those offered with respect to the proposed transfer of the Related Business.

Respondent claims that Section 3.4.8 does not require that Respondent purchase any other category of body bags, such as infant body bags, not specifically listed in that section. Respondent alleges that the phrase "all of their body bags" should be construed by the Court as limited by the four expressly described categories of body bags. Trial Tr. 46:21-25.

Despite testimony by Don Lintal that he purchased approximately 31 infant body bags from a source other than Mr. Knight, Lintal offered conflicting testimony as to whether he knew that he could have purchased infant body bags from Mr. Knight, as required by Section 3.4.8 of the Agreement.<sup>8</sup> Trial Tr. 45:22 - 49:16.<sup>9</sup> During a secretly recorded conversation between Don Lintal and Buddy Knight, Lintal never states to Knight that Respondent believed that he was not required by the Agreement to

---

<sup>8</sup> According to testimony offered on behalf of Palmetto Mortuary, the Respondent purchased those infant body bags from Southland Medical Corporation on or about April 3, 2008 and April 9, 2008, approximately three years prior to Knight's submission of a bid on the Richland County Coroner's contract.

<sup>9</sup> At varying points in his testimony, Don Lintal testified that he knew that Knight had previously manufactured an infant body bag for Lexington County; that he knew there were infant body bags in the inventory purchased from Knight Systems; and that he didn't realize that Knight could manufacture an infant body bag. Trial Tr. 109:2-25; 110-116; 220:13-25; 221-226:1-2.

purchase infant body bags from Knight. See, Appellantss' Exhibit 1 (Audio recording). In fact, Lintal was also untruthful with Knight during that conversation by telling Knight that the infant bags were the only bags he had purchased from another body bag vendor, even though Respondent had at that time purchased other types of body bags from vendors other than Knight. *Id.*; see also, Trial Tr. 229:2-3.

Don Lintal testified at trial that he purchased body bags, other than infant body bags, from sources other than Knight's body bag manufacturing business. According to Lintal's testimony, Palmetto Mortuary also purchased six water-retrieval bags from Evident Crime Scene Products prior to Appellantss submitting a bid on the Richland County public contract.<sup>10</sup> Trial Tr. 49:25-50:5; 50:24-51:23. Lintal testified that the total price paid for those water-retrieval bags was \$270.00. *Id.* On or about July 14, 2010, the Respondent purchased four extra-large and six heavy duty body bags from a company called Medical Products Limited. Trial Tr. 52:2-11.<sup>11</sup> Palmetto Mortuary paid a total price of \$280.00 for the ten body bags purchased from Medical Products Limited. Trial Tr. 53:21-54:1. These purchases, like the purchases from Southland Medical Corporation and Evident, occurred well before Knight submitted a bid on the Richland County public contract.

Following the taped conversation between Don Lintal and Buddy Knight, Lintal testified that he was fearful that Knight believed that Lintal had violated the Asset Purchase Agreement by purchasing body bags from sources other than Knight's

---

<sup>10</sup> Respondent's Exhibit 4 states that Palmetto Mortuary purchased the six water retrieval bags from Evident on or about March 6, 2009.

<sup>11</sup> Lintal testified that he believed that Respondent was not required to purchase the extra-large body bags from Knight because those bags, like the infant body bags, are not expressly listed in the Asset Purchase Agreement. *Id.* at 52.

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