THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

FEB 20 2015

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

James Randall Davis, Special Master/Referee

Appellate Case No. 2014-001819

Palmetto Mortuary Transport, Inc.,.....Respondent,

v.

Knight Systems, Inc., and Robert L. Knight,.....Appellants.

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

John J. Pringle, Jr.  
Lyndey Ritz Zwingelberg  
Adams and Reese LLP  
1501 Main Street, Fifth Floor  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 254-4190  
Attorneys for Respondent

**

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

## ARGUMENTS

The Special Referee concluded that Knight breached the terms of the Agreement in two manners: (1) by refusing to make odor-proof bags available to Palmetto Mortuary in violation of Section 3.4.8 of the APA, and (2) by violating the Non-Compete Agreement in Section 3.2.6 of the APA. (R. pp. 15-18 at ¶¶ 32-41.) Knight does not dispute that it withdrew odor-proof bags from the market after the close of the Richland County deadline for submission of responses to the RFP for mortuary transport services. (R. p. 346, line 14 – p. 347, line 25.) Knight also does not dispute that by submitting a response to the Richland County RFP he competed against Palmetto Mortuary for “mortuary transport services” in violation of the clear and unambiguous terms of the Non-Compete Agreement. (R. p. 349, lines 9-19.)

Knight’s submission of a response to Richland County’s RFP for mortuary transport services, less than five years following the sale of its business to Palmetto Mortuary, including its good will, was a direct violation of the Non-Compete Agreement contained in Section 3.2.6 of the Agreement. (R. p. 394 at Exhibit 3.2.6.) Knight also breached the APA by refusing to sell odor-proof body bags to Palmetto Mortuary as required by Section 3.4.8 of the APA. (R. p. 375 at § 3.4.8.) A more deliberate breach of contract is difficult to imagine.

Knight argues that he was justified in submitting a competing response to Richland County’s RFP against Palmetto Mortuary on June 17, 2011 and withdrawing odor-proof bags from the market because (1) the Non-Compete Agreement was unenforceable as it was in violation of public policy, and (2) that rescission of the Agreement was available to Knight based on Palmetto Mortuary’s previous purchases of

body bags from manufacturers other than Knight Systems. For the following reasons Knight's arguments are without merit and this Court should affirm the trial court's order.

**I. THE PARTIES' NON-COMPETE AGREEMENT IS ENFORCEABLE.**

The Non-Compete Agreement provides in relevant part:

For a period of ten (10) years after the date hereof:

- A. **Customers, etc.** Seller shall not, directly or through Affiliate, (i) call upon or contact (or assist another person(s) or business entity to call upon or contact) any Customer for the purpose of furnishing the same or similar services provided or offered at any time by the Business to any Customer, or (ii) solicit or divert (or assist another person(s) or business entity to solicit or divert) any Customer from purchasing or using any of the Buyer's services, or (iii) provide or attempt to provide (or assist another person(s) or business entity to provide or attempt to provide) to any Customer the same or similar services provided or offered by the Business. For purposes of this Section 2(A), the term "Customer" shall mean any customer or client of the Business and shall include (without limitation) every such person(s) to which the Business or Seller has provided services prior to the date hereof.
- B. **Territory.** In addition to (but not in limitation of) the restrictions of Section 2(A), Seller shall not, directly or through an Affiliate engage in, or assist another person or entity to engage in, providing services similar to those furnished by the Business or Seller at any time prior to Closing (as such term is defined in the Purchase Agreement) in competition with Buyer anywhere within 150 miles of the present location of the Business (the "Territory").

(R. p. 394 at Exhibit 3.2.6.)

**A. *The Non-Compete Agreement Was Negotiated by the Parties as Part of the Sale of a Business—Not in an Employment Context.***

The Non-Compete Agreement at issue arises out of the sale of a business, and not in connection with an employment contract. In general, a covenant not to compete will be upheld if (1) supported by valuable consideration, (2) reasonably limited as to time, and (3) reasonably restricted as to the place or territory, that is, where the time is not more extended or the territory more enlarged than essential for a reasonable protection of

the rights of the purchasing party. *Poole v. Incentives Unlimited, Inc.*, 345 S.C. 378, 381, 548 S.E.2d 207, 209 (2001) (citation omitted). Cases concerned with the enforceability of covenants not to compete must be decided on their own facts. *Stringer v. Herron*, 309 S.C. 529, 424 S.E.2d 547 (Ct. App. 1992).

The more rigorous standard in evaluating the reasonableness of covenants not to compete contained in employment contracts<sup>4</sup> is not applicable in reviewing covenants ancillary to the sale of a business. See *Hagemeyer North America, Inc. v. Thompson*, 2:05-3425, 2006 WL 516733, \*4 (D.S.C. Mar. 1, 2006) (“As a general rule, such covenants are given greater deference in the context of a sale of business than in the employment context.”) (citing 54A Am. Jur. *Monopolies and Restraints of Trade* § 247 (2005)). As the Fourth Circuit has recognized, “restrictive covenants not to compete in employment contracts . . . are scrutinized more rigorously than similar covenants incident to a sale of business.” *American Hot Rod Ass’n, Inc. v. Carrier*, 500 F.2d 1269, 1277 (4th Cir. 1974) (noting that this is the “general trend of modern authority”).<sup>5</sup>

In South Carolina, the applicable standard in reviewing the reasonableness of a covenant not to compete ancillary to the sale of a business is stated in *South Carolina*

---

<sup>4</sup> Where an employment contract contains a non-compete agreement, the courts strictly construe the terms of the covenant not to compete against the employer. See *Team IA, Inc. v. Lucas*, 395 S.C. 237, 245, 717 S.E.2d 103, 107 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Restrictive covenants not to compete are generally disfavored and will be strictly construed against the employer.”) (quoting *Uniform Serv. of Florence, Inc. v. Dudley*, 278 S.C. 674, 675, 301 S.E.2d 142, 143 (1983)).

<sup>5</sup> In *Alston Studios, Inc. v. Lloyd v. Gress and Associates*, 492 F.2d 279 (4th Cir. 1974), the Fourth Circuit held: “In all events, the law applicable when the sale of a business is involved and that when only an employee is involved, as here, is different. ‘The scope of permissible restraint is more limited between employer and employee than between seller and buyer, and the covenant is construed favorably to the employee.’” *Id.* at 284 (quoting *Richardson v. Paxton Co.*, 127 S.E.2d 113 (Va. 1962)). “Conversely, greater latitude is allowed in determining the reasonableness of a restrictive covenant when the covenant relates to the sale of a business than in those ancillary to an employment contract.” *Id.* (citing *Day Companies v. Patat*, 403 F.2d 792 (5th Cir. 1968)).

*Finance Corp. of Anderson v. West Side Finance Co.*, 236 S.C. 109, 113 S.E.2d 329 (1960). In that case, the Supreme Court held that such a covenant is “enforceable if it is not detrimental to the public interest, is ancillary to the sale of a business or profession, is reasonably limited as to time and territory, and is supported by a valuable consideration.” *Id.* at 120, 113 S.E.2d at 334 (citing 36 Am. Jur., *Monopolies, Combinations, and Restraints of Trade*, §§ 52, 53, 54, 55, 56; *Metts v. Wenberg*, 158 S.C. 411, 155 S.E. 734 (1930); *Reeves v. Sargeant*, 200 S.C. 494, 21 S.E.2d 184 (1942); *Somerset v. Reyner*, 233 S.C. 324, 104 S.E.2d 344 (1958)).

In this case, the Special Referee considered and applied the applicable standard for enforcing covenants not to compete ancillary to the sale of a business and was not controlled by an error of law. The trial court’s order is supported by evidence in the record and should be affirmed.

**B. *The Non-Compete Agreement is supported by valuable consideration.***

The clear and unambiguous language of the Non-Compete Agreement provides that valuable consideration was exchanged between the parties. The Non-Compete Agreement states:

Now, therefore, in consideration for the following premises, the promises set forth herein, the consideration of \$1,000 specifically allocated to this Agreement in the Purchase Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Seller and Buyer, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree and covenant as follows: . . . .

(R. p. 394 at Exhibit 3.2.6.) Like other contracts, a covenant not to compete must be supported by valuable consideration. *See Metts v. Wenberg*, 158 S.C. 411, 155 S.E. 734 (citations omitted). The trial court concluded that the \$1,000 consideration constituted

“valuable consideration.” The trial court’s conclusion is supported by evidence in the record and should be affirmed by this Court.

Knight has not, and cannot, attack the “valuable consideration” in the Non-Compete Agreement. The Agreement was negotiated by Knight with the assistance of legal counsel, read by him prior to closing, and executed without objection. (R. p. 264, lines 1-24; p. 265, lines 4-19; p. 305, lines 8-25; p. 306, lines 4-20; p. 350, lines 1-6; p. 353, lines 16-25.) Consideration is generally considered a bargained for gain or advantage to the promisee or a bargained for detriment or disadvantage to the promisor. *Weiner v. McGraw-Hill, Inc.*, 57 N.Y. 2d 458, 464 (N.Y. 1982) (citation omitted). Consideration is present when the parties exchange something to which they attach value. “It matters not from whom the consideration moves or to whom it goes. If it is bargained for as the exchange for the promise, the promise is not gratuitous.” *Shayne of Miami, Inc. v. Greybow, Inc.*, 232 S.C. 161, 167, 101 S.E.2d 486, 489 (1957) (citation omitted); *Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P’ship*, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct. App. 1998).

Absent a claim of fraud or unconscionability, a court will not concern itself with whether there was adequate consideration. *Campbell v. Carr*, 361 S.C. 258, 265, 603 S.E.2d 625, 628 (Ct. App. 2004). In *Lowery v. Callahan*, 210 S.C. 300, 42 S.E.2d 457 (1947), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated: “When the consideration agreed upon . . . is something of value, the courts will generally, in the absence of fraud, coercion, and undue influence, and if the parties are competent, not avoid the [contract] on the ground of the inadequacy of the consideration . . . , for the contracting parties, and not the courts, must determine the quid pro quo.” *Id.* at 304, 42 S.E.2d at 458. “The inadequacy of

price is determined at the date the contract was entered.” *Campbell*, 361 S.C. at 264, 603 S.E.2d at 628 (citations omitted).

Knight’s references to pre-contract negotiations cannot be used as evidence to demonstrate a lack of consideration for the Non-Compete Agreement. *See Moser v. Gosnell*, 334 S.C. 425, 430, 513 S.E.2d 123, 125 (Ct. App. 1999) (“When the language of a contract is clear, explicit, and unambiguous, the language of the contract alone determines the contract’s force and effect and the court must construe it according to its plain, ordinary, and popular meaning.”) (quotation omitted).

In considering the adequacy of consideration, the Court must look to the four corners of the document, and cannot consider parol evidence to construe the agreement unless its terms are ambiguous. *See Park Regency, LLC v. R&D Development of the Carolinas, LLC*, 402 S.C. 401, 412, 741 S.E. 528, 534 (Ct. App. 2012) (“the intention of the parties . . . [is] gathered primarily from the contents of the writing itself, or, as otherwise stated, from the four corners of the instrument”) (citation omitted); *Koontz v. Thomas*, 333 S.C. 702, 709, 511 S.E.2d 407, 411 (Ct. App. 1999) (only if a contract is ambiguous will parol evidence be admissible to ascertain the true meaning and intent of the parties). There is no ambiguity with respect to the consideration stated on the face of the Non-Compete Agreement, and even Knight does not make such an assertion.

Additionally, Knight neither alleged nor proved fraud, unconscionability, coercion, or undue influence in connection with the APA or the Non-Compete Agreement that was part of the APA. There is no contention that there was unequal bargaining power or oppressive circumstances. To the contrary, the record amply demonstrates that Mr. Knight was at all times a sophisticated party who pursued and

secured his interests (and those of Knight Systems) in negotiating and executing the APA. From November of 2006 to January 5, 2007, the parties and their agents, including brokers, accountants, and attorneys for both sides, negotiated the terms of the APA. (R. p. 239, line 11 – p. 240, line 15; p. 244, line 4 – p. 245, line 14; p. 302, lines 5-9; p. 349, line 20 – p. 353, line 19.) Knight’s own attorney assisted in the drafting of the Agreement and there is evidence that Knight’s attorney received drafts of the Non-Compete Agreement prior to closing. (R. p. 260, lines 9-12.) Knight admitted that he “appeared at the closing [with his attorney] and . . . read the documents at closing.” (R. p. 350, lines 1-6; p. 353, lines 16-19.)

More particularly, Mr. Knight did not object to the \$1,000 allocated to the Non-Compete Agreement, testifying that “after th[e] discussion about the \$1,000 that’s mentioned as the consideration for the covenant not to compete, [he] did[] [not] object to that provision or any provision of either agreement at the closing.” (R. p. 353, lines 20-25.) Further, there is evidence in the record that the \$1,000 in valuable consideration allocated to the Non-Compete Agreement in the APA was placed there at the insistence of Knight. Mrs. Lintal testified, and Mr. Knight conceded, that the \$1,000 allocation ultimately attributed to the Non-Compete Agreement was primarily driven by Knight at the instruction of his accountant. (R. p. 264, lines 1-24; p. 265, lines 4-19; p. 305, lines 8-15.) Both Mrs. Lintal and Mr. Knight testified that Mr. Knight wanted to allocate \$1,000 to the Non-Compete Agreement in order to allow him and Knight Systems to minimize their potential capital gains tax. (R. p. 266, line 20 – p. 267, line 2; p. 305, lines 6-15.)

Knight cannot now complain that \$1,000 was “inadequate” to support the terms of the Non-Compete Agreement when he previously insisted that the value exchanged was reasonable and benefitted him and his business financially. “It is not the business of courts to protect parties from the consequences of bad contracts, but to protect them from the consequences of either legal or moral fraud and imposition.” *Jackson v. Carter*, 128 S.C. 79, 121 S.E. 559, 563 (1924) (quoting *Goree v. Wilson*, 17 S.C. L. 597 (S.C. Eq. 1830)). Knight received a financial benefit of \$590,000.00 as a result of entering into the APA and the Non-Compete Agreement, retained the specific right to continue to conduct his body bag business, and through the Exclusivity Provision required Respondent to purchase certain bags from Knight for the 10-year term of the Non-Compete Agreement. Further, Knight realized a financial benefit by allocating only \$1,000 to the Non-Compete Agreement in order to allow him and Knight Systems to minimize their potential capital gains tax from the transaction. “Where a party gets all the consideration he voluntarily and knowingly contracts for, he will not be allowed to say he got no consideration.” *Jackson v. Carter*, 128 S.C. 79, 121 S.E. at 563 (citation omitted).

The cases cited by Knight do not support the proposition that the Non-Compete Agreement was not supported by “valuable consideration.” Knight’s comparison of this case to *Newman v. Sablosky*, 407 A.2d 448 (Pa. 1979), is without merit because in that case there was no consideration for the covenant not to compete. *See id.* at 450. Instead, the plaintiff in *Sablosky* argued that the covenant not to compete was supported by his previous agreement to purchase real property from the defendant in conjunction with the sale of defendant’s equipment, medical supplies, and furniture. *Id.* at 450. The Court rejected the plaintiff’s position as “wholly without merit.” *Id.* The instant case is

distinguishable from *Sablosky* on the facts. Here, the covenant not to compete stated a \$1,000 payment as consideration and such consideration was stated on the face of the covenant. Palmetto Mortuary is not asserting that some *previous exchange* or agreement constitutes adequate consideration.

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